
 
 

  
 
 

Customers and Corporate 
Directorate 
DDaavviidd  WWiillccoocckk  

HHeeaadd  ooff  LLeeggaall  aanndd  GGoovveerrnnaannccee  RReeffoorrmm  
Governance  & Committee Services 
Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 
Phone: 01706 647474 
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Enquiries to: Sian Walter-Browne 
Telephone:  01706924701 
Date: Friday, 31 October 2014 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
 
You are requested to attend the meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Monday, 10 November 2014 
commencing at 6.15 pm. 
 
The agenda and supporting papers are attached. You are invited to attend a site 
visit for application 13/01214/FUL - Windy Ridge, meeting on site at 4.00pm 
 
If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting.  
 
Yours faithfully 

 
 

David Wilcock 
Head of Legal and Governance Reform 
 
Licensing and Regulatory Committee Membership 2014/15 
Councillor Shakil Ahmed 
Councillor Andy Bell 
Councillor Surinder Biant 
Councillor Susan Emmott 
Councillor John Hartley 
Councillor Shaun O'Neill 
Councillor Peter Rush 
Councillor Billy Sheerin 
Councillor Ann Stott JP 
Councillor Patricia Sullivan 
Councillor June West 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 
 

Rochdale Borough Council 
 

LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 10 November 2014 at 6.15 pm 
 

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 

 
A G E N D A 

 
Apologies for Absence 

1. Declarations of Interest  1 - 3 

 Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.   
 
Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting. 
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct. 

 

2. Minutes  4 - 7 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 20th October 2014  

3. Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013  8 - 10 

4. Submitted planning application  11 - 32 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25
TH

 JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 

PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS). 

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE 

MEETING AND DATE 

 

……………………………. 

 

Agenda item 

Indicate either 

• Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR 

• Personal Interest OR 

• Personal and Prejudicial interest 

Nature of Interest 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 

LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE. 

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING 

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests 
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners. 
 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain 
 

Sponsorship 
 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.   

Contracts 
 

Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council -  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land 
 

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council. 

Licences 
 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer. 

Corporate Tenancies 
 

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) -  
(a) the landlord is the Council: and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and 
(b) either – 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 
Personal Interests 
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect -  
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority; 
(b)  any body - 

(i)  exercising functions of a public nature; 
(ii)  directed to charitable purposes; or 
(iii)  one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union),  
of which you are in a position of general control or management; 
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25. 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would  reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business - 
(a)  Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or 
 (b)  Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above. 
 
 
MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE 
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25

TH
 JULY 2012. 

 Page 3



LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Monday, 20 October 2014 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Susan Emmott (Chair); Councillors Shakil Ahmed, Bell, 
Hartley, Linden, O'Neill, Rush, Sheerin, Stott and Sullivan 
 
OFFICERS: Rebecca Coley (Planning and Regulation), Noel Scanlon and Sian 
Walter-Browne 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: approximately 45 members of the public   
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Surinder Biant and Councillor West 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
108 Councillor Linden indicated he would be speaking as Ward Councillor on 
submitted planning application number 14/00218/OUT. 
 
 
MINUTES 
109 DECIDED - The Minutes of the meetings held on 21st August and 23rd 
September 2014 were approved, subject to amending minute 105 to show that 
the application had been approved. 
 
 
OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR MIXED-USE SCHEME AT HAJI CASH AND 
CARRY, HAJI HOUSE, STATION ROAD, MILKSTONE 
110 Councillor Linden withdrew from the Committee for this item. 
 
The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 14/00218/OUT, an outline application for the demolition of existing 
buildings and erection of a new specialist food unit comprising ground floor wholesale 
goods store, first floor retail supermarket, upper floor conference and banqueting 
facility with associated offices, and associated car parking, with all matters reserved 
at  Haji Cash and Carry, Haji House, Station Road, Milkstone . The Committee were 
informed than one additional written objection had been received. 
 
The objectors and the agent for the applicant addressed the Committee. 
 
Councillor Linden spoke as Ward Councillor. 
 
DECIDED - that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions 
detailed within the submitted report 
 
USE OF LAND FOR RESIDENTIAL OCCUPATION BY TRAVELLERS, WITH 
ASSOCIATED HARDSTANDING AND UTILITY BLOCK, AT JUNCTION OF LILEY 
STREET AND WALPOLE STREET, ROCHDALE 
111 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 14/00609/FUL for use of land for residential occupation by travellers, with 
associated hardstanding and utility block, at junction of Liley Street and Walpole 
Street, Rochdale. 
 
DECIDED – that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions 
detailed within the submitted report. 

Public Document Pack

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



 
SINGLE STOREY FRONT EXTENSION AT STANWAY CLOSE, MIDDLETON 
112 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 14/00920/HOUS for a single storey front extension at 5 Stanway Close, 
Middleton. 
 
There were no objectors present and the agent for the applicant addressed the 
Committee. 
  
DECIDED – that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions:- 
1) The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 
beginning with the date of this permission.                               
             
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2) This permission relates to the following plans:-       
                        
            Drawing Number 14-050-1      
            Drawing Number 14-050-2      
                         
            and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with 
these drawings hereby approved.      
                         
            Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory 
standard of development in accordance with the policies contained within the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.      
             
3) The materials used shall match those of the existing building in terms of 
type, colour, texture and scale.   
                         
            Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of 
visual amenity in accordance with Policies BE/2 and H/11 of the Council’s 
Unitary Development Plan 
 
 
ERECTION OF ONE 80M HIGH WIND MONITORING MAST FOR A MAXIMUM 
PERIOD OF 9 MONTHS ON LAND AT CROOK HILL MOOR (WITHIN CROOK 
HILL WIND FARM BOUNDARY) ROCHDALE 
113 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 14/00942/FUL for the erection of one 80m high wind monitoring mast for 
a maximum period of 9 months on land at Crook Hill Moor (Within Crook Hill Wind 
Farm Boundary) Rochdale. 
 
There were no objectors and the applicant was not present. 
 
DECIDED – that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions 
detailed within the submitted report. 
 
ERECTION OF 23 DWELLINGS WITH ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING AND CAR 
PARKING AT MAYFIELD SPORTS CENTRE, KESWICK STREET, ROCHDALE 

Page 5



114 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on submitted planning 
application 14/00457/FUL for the erection of 23 dwellings with associated 
landscaping and car parking at Mayfield Sports Centre, Keswick Street, Rochdale 
 
There were no objectors present and the agent for the applicant addressed the 
Committee. 
 
DECIDED – that (1) the Committee is minded to grant planning permission 
subject to the conditions set out within the submitted report and subject to the 
completion of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act to vary the provisions of the Unilateral Undertaking dated 19th 
October 2012 associated with planning approval 11/D54897 by: 

• Removing the requirement for off-site financial contributions towards 
recreational open space in accordance with the provisions of UDP 
policy H/6. 

• The provision of a further 23 affordable housing units on site in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policy H/7. 

• The provision of a contribution of £3,400 towards improvements at 
Castleton Railway Station in accordance with the provisions of UDP 
policy A/19. 

 
(2) the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the decision notice upon 
completion of the planning obligation to secure the above purposes.  
 
 
PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS' SCHEME 
115 The Director of Economy and Environment reported on the outcome of the 
consultation undertaken on the proposed Operator Scheme, which will be additional 
to the current licensing process for private hire operators; and requested that the 
Committee agree to endorse the proposed Scheme as part of the licensing process. 
 
DECIDED -  1) to note the consultation feedback; and 
2) to agree to the implementation of the proposed Operator Scheme 
 
GOVERNMENT PLANNING REFORMS: PLANNING PERFORMANCE AND 
TECHNICAL CONSULTATION 
116 The Director of Economy and Environment reported the changes to the 
planning system which came into force on 23 July 2014, in respect of special 
measures designations for Local Planning Authorities and updated Members on the 
operation of the special measures designations for Local Planning Authorities, since 
the first designations in November 2013 and June 2014. 
 
The Committee noted the report 
 
CHANGES TO THE TOWNSHIP AND OFFICER SCHEMES OF DELEGATION IN 
RELATION TO  LA GOVERNOR APPOINTMENTS 
117 The Director of Children’s Services presented a report outlining the changes 
to all Local Authority governor appointments coming into effect by 31st August 2015, 
as a result of the School Governance (Constitution and Federations)(Amendment) 
Regulations 2014. These require all maintained school governing bodies to be 
constituted under the School Governance (Constitution) Regulations 2012 by 1st 
September 2015, when the Constitution Regulations 2007 are revoked. Members 
were asked to note that from 1st September 2015 all Local Authority governor 
appointments will be made by governing bodies with nomination only from the LA. 

Page 6



Changes were proposed to the Township and Officer Schemes of Delegation, to 
move the function of nominating Local Authority governors from Townships to officer 
level. 
 
DECIDED - to agree to amend the Township and Officer Schemes of Delegation 
to delegate the nomination of Local Authority governors to the Director 
(Children’s Services), in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children, 
Schools and Families and Opposition Spokespersons. 
 

Page 7



 
 

  
 
Subject:  Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 Status: For Publication 

Report to: Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Jacqueline Beswick 
 

Date: Monday, 20 October 2014 
  

Report of: Acting Director - Customers and 
Corporate Services 
 
Author Email:    Sian.Walter-
browne@Rochdale.Gov.UK 

Author: Sian Walter-Browne 
 
Tel: 01706 924701 

 
Comments from Statutory 
Officers: 

Monitoring Officer:   Yes/No 
Section 151 Officer: Yes/No  

Key Decision: No    
 
1 Purpose of the report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to (i) update members on the new regulatory regime 
relating to scrap metal dealers, (ii) request the Licensing Committee to agree to 
receive any representations made under the Act and iii) request the Licensing 
Committee to delegate to the Monitoring Officer the making of the consequential 
amendments to the Council’s Constitution.    
 

2 Recommendations 
2.1 The Committee is recommended to agree that it is the appropriate body to receive 
any representations made under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 Act and to 
delegate to the Monitoring Officer the making of the consequential amendments to the 
Council’s Constitution.   

 
3 Background 

3.1 The Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 (the Act) received Royal Assent on 28 February 
2013 and came into effect from 1 October 2013 (with a transition period lasting until 1 
December 2013). The Act repealed the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 1964 and Part 1 of 
the Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001, creating a revised regulatory regime for the scrap metal 
recycling and vehicle dismantling industries in England and Wales. 
 
3.2 The Act was introduced in response to the growth in metal theft offences which, in 
addition to the direct impact on the victims of theft, have also had a damaging and 
disruptive effect on the country’s infrastructure. 
 
3.3 Under the previous regulatory regime, scrap metal dealers were obliged to simply 
register with the local authority. Under the new regime, local authorities are able to 
refuse to grant a licence where the applicant is judged not to be a suitable person to 
operate as a scrap metal dealer.  
 
3.4 Every scrap metal dealer is required to be in possession of a licence issued by the 
local authority; operating without one will be a criminal offence.  Licences last for a 
period of 3 years.  If convicted of trading without a licence, the offender can be fined at 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



 
 

Level 5 on the standard scale. 
 
3.5 There are two types of licence specified in the Act:  
 
• Site licence. All the sites where a licensee carries on business as a scrap metal 
dealer have to be identified, and a site manager named for each site. The site licence 
allows the licensee to transport scrap metal to and from those sites, from any local 
authority area; and  
• Collector’s Licence. This allows the licensee to operate as a collector in the area of 
the issuing local authority only. It does not allow the collector to operate in any other 
local authority area and a separate licence has to be obtained from each local 
authority the collector wishes to operate in. The collector’s licence does not authorise 
the licensee to operate a site.  
 
3.6 Only one type of licence may be held by a dealer in any one local authority area. 
They cannot hold both a site and collector’s licence from the same local authority. 
 
3.7 A local authority must not issue a licence unless it is satisfied the applicant is a 
suitable person to carry on business as a scrap metal dealer – the ‘suitability test’. In 
the case of a partnership, the suitability of each of the partners will be assessed, while 
in the case of a company, any directors, company secretaries or shadow directors will 
be assessed. 
 
3.8 In assessing suitability the local authority can consider any information it considers 
relevant.  Such information includes: 
 
• whether the applicant or named site manager has been convicted of a relevant 
offence, or is subject to any relevant enforcement action;  
• whether the applicant has previously been refused a scrap metal dealers licence or 
an application to renew a licence has been refused;  
• whether the applicant has previously been refused a relevant environmental permit or 
registration; and  
• whether they had previously held a scrap metal dealers licence that had been 
revoked. 
 
3.9 The applicant is asked to provide a Basic Disclosure Certificate with the application 
form. Failure to provide this would be grounds for the local authority not to proceed 
with the application. 
 
3.10 The Basic Disclosure will only reveal any unspent convictions on the Police 
National Computer (PNC) and may not contain details of convictions for relevant 
offences secured by other authorities. It is recommended that local authorities consult 
these other organisations when assessing the suitability of an applicant. For instance, 
where the Basic Disclosure certificate reveals an unspent relevant conviction the local 
authority may well wish to seek additional information from the police and the 
Environment Agency (and other relevant bodies) in order to enable them to better 
assess the applicant’s suitability.  
 
3.11 Where a local authority (i) proposes to reject an application (or revoke it or vary it) 
or (ii) has received an objection from the police, the applicant will be notified of the 
proposal and the reasons for it. If the local authority considers the applicant unsuitable 
and is minded to refuse the application, it must inform the applicant. 
 
3.12 The notice from the local authority will give the applicant (or licensee) the 
opportunity to make representations and will specify the period of time in which the 
applicant may do this, which cannot be less than 14 days from the date on which the 

Page 9



 
 

notice is given. If the applicant does not make any representations or does not say that 
they wish to in that time period, the local authority can refuse the application or revoke 
or vary the licence. Where the applicant states they want to make representations the 
local authority must give them a further period in which to do so and, only if they fail to 
do so, can they refuse the application or revoke or vary the licence. 
 
3.13 Where the applicant makes representations, the local authority has to consider 
them and, if the applicant states they want to make oral representations, the local 
authority must provide them with the opportunity to appear before a nominated person. 
The guidance of the Local Government Association indicates the Licensing Committee 
of a local authority is best placed to hear and consider such representations.  
 

4 Financial Implications 
4.1 The fee structure has previously been agreed by the Cabinet  

 
5   Legal Implications 

5.1 The statutory requirements and implications are set out in the report  
 

6  Personnel Implications 
6.1 There are none 

 
7 Corporate Priorities 

7.1 Regulation is intended to reduce crime and disorder through more rigorous 
controlling of scrap metal dealers, and as such is a priority for the Council. 

 
8. Risk Assessment Implications  

8.1 There are no specific risk issues arising from this report 
 

9. Equalities Impacts 
9.1 There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report. 
 
9.2 There are no significant equality/community issues arising from this report. 
 

10. Background Papers 
 
 10.1 There are no background papers to this report 

 

Page 10



 
 

  
 

Subject:  Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication 

Report to:   Licensing & Regulatory Committee 
 

  

Date: 10th November 2014  

Report of: Director of Economy and 

Environment 
 
Author: See individual agenda reports 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 

1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or 
related consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration 
and/or determination of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s 

approved Scheme of Delegation. 
 

1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related 
matters which may affect the work of the Committee. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as 
detailed in the following papers. 

 
3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, Planning and Compensation Act 1991, Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008, Localism Act 2012 and 

the Town and Country Planning (Development Management) Procedure 
Order 2010 together with any Circulars and Regulations which support that 

legislation.   
 
3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with 

the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Where relevant, any such material considerations will be referred to in the 

report. 
 
 

 
 

 

ITEM NO. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



     The Development Plan 

 
3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed 

against the relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the 
Borough (currently the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) 

and any Supplementary Planning Documents or Guidance adopted by the 
Council.   

 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a 
requirement to have regard to relevant national policies as set out within 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a 

material consideration.  Where relevant, the provisions of the NPPF and any 
other relevant national guidance will be referred to in the report. 

 
4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS  
 

4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers 
dealing with Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have 

full regard to the Code in discharging their responsibilities and duties in 
relation to planning matters on behalf of the Council.  The Code seeks to 
ensure that all decision making is governed by an open and transparent 

process and represents a standard against which the conduct of Officers 
and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.   

 
4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the 

commencement of the Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any 

Member sitting on the Committee ought to declare any interest on any item 
on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services or the Chief Planning Officer.   
 
4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code 

of Conduct.    
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS 
 

5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning 
applications on their individual merits having regard to the development 
plan and other material planning considerations. 

 
5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of 

certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These 
protected characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, 
Marriage or Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or 

Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer. 
 

5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the 
effects of its decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, 
including a duty to make reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all 

material planning considerations, including Council policy as set out in the 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, the 

Service Director (Planning and Regulation Services) has concluded all 

Page 12



opportunities to promote equality through the planning process have been 

taken, or where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the 
basis of the planning merits of the development proposal.   

 
5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group comments on 

relevant planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be 
included within the reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in 
designing access when dealing with the planning applications. Where 

applicable, any issues relating to these matters or other equal opportunity 
matters will be referred to in individual planning application reports. 

 
6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations 
 

6.1    The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of 
the Human Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those 

third parties, including local residents, who have made representations) 
have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full 
consideration to their comments. 

 
6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s 

home, other land and business assets.  In taking account of all material 
considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Unitary 
Development Plan, the Service Director (Planning and Regulation Services) 

has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby 

land that might be affected may be interfered with but that that 
interference is in accordance with the law and justified by being in the 
public interest and on the basis of the planning merits of the development 

proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 
approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 

and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the 
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 13



 

Background Papers 
 

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on 
this agenda will include:- 

 
 1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include: 

 
 i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with 

scaled drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates. 

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have 
been consulted or commented on the planning application 

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties. 
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received 

and of relevance to the submitted proposal 

  
 2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the 

application file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal 
 
 3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports 

on planning applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting). 
 

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of 
relevance to the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted 
planning applications or related consents 

 
For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background 
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at:  
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning 

 

 

 
 

Page 14



Application Number: 13/01214/FUL    Ward: Littleborough Lakeside       
 

 
Proposal: Erection of one detached dwelling 
 

Site Address: Land Adjacent To Windy Ridge Blackstone Edge Old Road 
Littleborough   
 

Applicant: Mr Gordon Foxton 
                   
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant permission subject to conditions 
 

 
 
DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
This application is before the Licensing and Regulatory Committee as it comprises a departure 
from the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan. The Committee has delegated powers 
to approve or refuse the application on reasonable planning grounds. At their meeting of the 22 
October 2014, Members of the Pennines Township Planning Sub-Committee were 
unanimously minded to support the application. 
 
SITE 

The site is located off Blackstone Edge Old Road, it measures approximately 0.67 hectares 
and it currently comprises undeveloped grass land. The site slopes downwards from its south 
eastern corner where it fronts Blackstone Edge Old Road. Pedestrian access to the site is 
gained from Blackstone Edge Old Road, and adjoining the eastern boundary is a public 
footpath which links Blackstone Edge Old Road and Halifax Road.  Along the southern 
boundary of the site lies a dry stone wall and along the southern and eastern boundaries are 
several groups of trees.    

Page 15



The site lies within the Green Belt, on the edge of the Defined Urban Area and to the east, 
south and west are residential buildings fronting Blackstone Edge Old Road.  To the north-
west are further residential dwellings and a cleared site which was previously occupied by a 
nursing home. The built development to the east, south, west and north-west is located within 
the Defined Urban Area. The open land to the north east is within the Green Belt. 

The site lies close to a Grade II listed building, no. 5 Blackstone Edge Old Road is a mid-
terrace property which lies to the south east of the site.  The property is faced with watershot 
stone and it dates from the late 18th century. The remainder of the terrace is not listed. 

The application site lies on the edge of Littleborough and the surrounding residential 
properties are diverse in style, including traditional stone built cottages, large detached 
dwellings and modern contemporary dwellings.  As a consequence there are a variety of 
architectural styles evident, and no one particular house style dominates the area.  The locality 
is also defined by pockets of mature tree planting which extend between the site and the more 
urban areas which lie to the north-west. The trees help to delineate the more urban areas from 
the open moorland which lies to the east.  

PROPOSAL 

The proposal is for a new dwelling with associated landscaping and a new access from 
Blackstone Edge Old Road. 

The proposed dwelling would be a 4 bed family home comprising approximately 6,000 sq ft of 
floorspace. The internal accommodation of the dwelling would consist of two distinct areas.  
To the west of the main entrance is the communal accommodation that includes a kitchen, day 
room and a lounge.  Located to the east of the main entrance are 4 bedrooms and a library.   

Externally the dwelling has been integrated into the existing topography, whilst an earth 
embankment on the northern side ensures that the gentle slope of the site would be 
maintained.  By utilising the topography of the site and the natural slope of Blackstone Edge 
Old Road, it allows the dwelling to be tucked within the landscape.   To work within the 
landscape the form of the dwelling gently curves around a central courtyard and both the 
dwelling and the garage contain flat roofs.  The garage and dwelling and connected to one 
another by a stone retaining wall.   

The main habitable spaces have a southerly aspect looking out onto a private landscaped 
courtyard. Beyond the curtilage the remainder of the site will be utilised as a smallholding.  
Boundary treatments will remain as existing, although some additional tree planting is 
proposed.    

A new access into the site, allowing vehicular and pedestrian access via a driveway, will be 
provided from Blackstone Edge Old Road.  The driveway will follow the existing gradient of the 
land which slopes away from Blackstone edge Old Road.   

It is intended that the scheme will secure Code for Sustainable Homes Level 6.  This will be 
achieved through employing conventional elements of construction to reduce energy 
consumption and making the best use of natural elements, minimising the use of energy and 
utilising renewable energy technologies.  The proposal includes the use of a biomass boiler 
and photovoltaic cells which would be installed on the roof of the garage. 

A simple palette of materials are proposed to complement the design concept. The materials 
chosen are as follows: a) Natural random coursed Pennine gritstone for the external walls and 
retaining structures. b) Frameless glazing to the ‘recessed’ openings. c) A sedum roof of 
selected native species. d) Natural York stone paving. 
 

 

Page 16



RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 

National Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.   

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate. 

Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 

G/D/2  Green Belt 
D/4  Control of Development in Green Belt - General 
 
G/H/1 Housing  
H/3 Residential Developments Outside Allocated Areas 
H/5 Residential Density 
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development  
 
G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy 
RE/4 Diversification of the Rural Economy 
 
G/A/1 Accessibility 
A/2 New Development  - Accessibility Hierarchy  
A/3 New Development  - Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People 
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists 
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles 
A/9 New Development -  Access for General Traffic  
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking 
A/11 New Development  - Transport Assessments 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development  
BE/7 Street Furniture and the Public Realm 
BE/8 Landscaping in New Development  
 
G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage  
BE/15  New Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building   
 
G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/3 Noise and New Development  
EM/4 Contaminated Land 
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
 
G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation 
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development  
 

Page 17



G/NE/1 Nature Conservation 
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological / Geomorphological Importance 
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development  
NE/4 Protected Species 
 
G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands 
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows.  
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
Biodiversity and Development (SPD) 
Energy and New Development (SPD) 
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Developments (SPD) 
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development (SPG) 
Littleborough Town Design Statement 

SITE HISTORY 

1977/D04752 – Outline application for one detached dwelling. Refused 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

Highways and Engineering – Raise no objections to the proposal  

United Utilities - Raise no objections  

Environmental Health (Contamination) – Raise no objections  

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit –Comment that they not aware of any ecological 
constraints on this site 

Prior to the application being submitted Places Matter! were consulted as part of a Design 
Review.  Design Review is a respected method of improving the quality of new development 
by offering constructive, impartial and expert advice. A Places Matter! Design Review consists 
of a panel of respected built environment professionals providing expertise from a range of 
fields including: Development, Architecture, Engineering, Planning, Landscape Architecture, 
Urban Design, Public Art and local planning. 

The response from the Places Matter! Design Review is summarised below: -  

� We suggest you take a step back from your final drawing and return to your, ‘curled up 
caterpillar’ drawing which has the sinuous lines that should form the shape of the 
house.  The key is that this building has one simple form.   

� We suggest that you are more generous with the courtyard space as this forms the 
sole outdoor space for family activity and is the only south facing aspect. 

� The boundary wall could mark out this simple form in plan and extend into the site and 
circle around to create a cloistered courtyard. By continuing this wall in the landscape 
concept you can maintain its height and integrate the garages into the curve.  

� We recommend that you embrace the north elevation and open up a horizontal slot 
keeping the form simple and strong and capture the views out in this direction. 

� The way you have shown the garage makes it jar in the central space.  We would like 
to see this form part of this sinuous wall with a walkway that would allow a protected 
route around the perimeter of the courtyard to the front entrance. 

� We see no need to alter the height of the roof at the entrance as this further 
complicates the elevation. 

Page 18



� We particularly like the idea of planting the roof. 

� There should only be two devices in the scheme the wall and the landscape.  If this 
concept is kept simple and is maintained throughout the development this has the 
potential to be a truly exceptional building.  

� There is a potentially a strong concept if it can be successfully refined and seen 
through.  Then it could be an exceptional scheme.  

 
In response to the comments made by the Places Matter! Design review team, the 
architect refined the scheme and the amendments are described below: -  
 

 
a) Increasing the size of the circular courtyard 

 
b) Extending the curved courtyard wall to form a part of the overall form  

 
c) Reducing the height of the bund to the North/North-East elevations, to allow the curved 

form to be expressed in elevation.  

 
d) Reducing the height of the main entrance area, so that a simple single curved line is 

expressed in the landscape.  

 
e) Re-locating the garage so that it forms a seamless line with the curved courtyard wall.  

REPRESENTATIONS 

The adjacent and adjoining properties have been notified, a site notice has been posted and 
the application has been advertised in the local press. Sixteen letters of objection have been 
received and the grounds of objection are summarised below followed by Officers response: 

1. The site lies within the Green Belt and therefore the proposal is inappropriate 
development. ‘Very special circumstances’ must be provided by the applicant in order 
for the application to be approved.   

2. The field affords the general public the enjoyment of a pleasant rural outlook with 
distance views of the hills. 

3. There has never been access into this field from Blackstone Edge Old Road. 

4. If this application is approved it would set a dangerous precedent. 

5. The fundamental basis for the application seems to be that it will provide a 
contemporary house with exceptional sustainability credentials.  Nowhere in the 
supporting documentation does it provide any ‘very special circumstances’ to outweigh 
the harm to the Green Belt that would arise from inappropriate development. 

6. Approving this application could indicate that house, in its normal form and function, is 
unacceptable but a house in the shape of an insect or animal is more acceptable.   

7. Whilst the dwelling does seek to use sustainability technologies this alone does not 
present a unique and exceptional circumstance as to why the desire to protect the 
Green Belt from such developments should not be overlooked.  

Page 19



8. Policy H/5 of the adopted UDP stated that housing developments will be permitted 
provided that they have a density of between 30-50 dwellings per hectare.  The 
application proposed just under 2 dwellings per hectare. 

9. The NPPF also states that inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt. 

10. Residential was refused on this site many years ago. 

11. The proposed solar panels would ‘glare’ into front elevations of the neighboring 
dwellings.  

12. The line of trees along the frontage of the site with Blackstone Edge Old Road should 
be thinned or removed.  

Responses to the issues raised are included within the Analysis section of the report. 

 

ANALYSIS 

1. The principle of the development having regard to Green Belt policy 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the fundamental aim of Green 
Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. The purposes of 
Green Belt are: 

� to check unrestricted sprawl;  

� prevent neighbouring towns merging;  

� assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;  

� preserve the setting and special character of historic towns;  

� assist in urban regeneration.   

The NPPF states that, except in very special circumstances, there will be a presumption 
against inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  The categories of development which 
are appropriate in the Green Belt are: 
 

� agriculture and forestry; 

� essential facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation, for cemeteries, and for 
other uses of land which preserve the openness of the Green Belt and which do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land in it; 

� limited extension, alteration or replacement of existing dwellings; 

limited infilling in existing villages, and limited affordable housing for local community 
needs; 

� limited infilling or redevelopment of major existing developed sites identified in adopted 
local plans.   

 
The erection of a dwelling does not come within any of the categories of appropriate 
development set out in the NPPF, the advice in which is carried through to in Policies G/D/2 
and D/4 of the adopted UDP; albeit this refers to PPG2: Green Belts which preceded the 
NPPF, but the thrust of which is fundamentally the same. Accordingly the proposed dwelling 

Page 20



represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt.   As the NPPF makes clear, 
inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt by reason of its 
inappropriateness.  Additionally, it is clear that due to its position and design the dwelling 
would involve a loss of openness of the Green Belt. The NPPF at Paragraph 88 makes it clear 
that very special circumstances to justify such development will not exist unless the harm by 
reason of its inappropriateness and any other harm are clearly outweighed by other 
considerations.   
 
Visual Impact. 
 
The area is characterised by a semi-rural landscape which is surrounded by number of 
detached dwellings.  In the immediate vicinity of the site are lines of trees and clear views into 
it are afforded from Blackstone Edge Old Road which forms the southern boundary.  To the 
east of the site lies grazing land and beyond them lie the fringes of the Pennine moorland; to 
the west lie a variety of mainly detached dwellings which lie below the site between 
Blackstone Edge Old Road and Halifax Road. To the north lies a large care home which is 
accessed from Halifax Road while to the south lie several groups of cottages which face 
towards Blackstone Edge Old Road.   
 
It is considered the most sensitive views of the site would be from Blackstone Edge Old Road 
and from the public right of way which extends across the north east facing boundary of the 
site. From many of the nearer vantage points along Blackstone Edge Old Road large sections 
of the dwelling would be masked to some degree as it would be partially built within the 
existing hillside.  However from Blackstone Edge Old Road the parapet wall above the flat roof 
of the dwelling would be visible and most noticeable would be the exposed elevations of the 
lounge which would be visible from the entrance to the driveway. The solar panels on the 
garage roof would also be visible from this aspect. From the public right of way the sections of 
the curved rear elevation which project above the bund would be visible. 
   
Although from these vantage points the roof and sections of the elevations would be visible, it 
is considered that the dwelling would not be an overly prominent feature within the landscape.  
From further away, the dwelling, would be seen at a distance and as part of the development 
along Blackstone Edge Old Road. 
 
Although the proposed dwelling would be built partly within the hillside and it would be partially 
screened by nearby manmade and natural features, it is clear that by reason of its position 
and height it would harm, albeit slightly,  the openness of the green belt. The fact that the 
visual impact of the dwelling would be reduced by the characteristics the existing landscape 
does not in itself comprise a very special circumstance to justify inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt.  
 
Very Special Circumstances.   
 
The very recent Court of Appeal judgement in Redhill Aerodrome Ltd v Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government establishes that ‘any other harm’ in paragraph 88 of the 
NPPF (i.e. non-Green Belt harm) can be taken into account  in the weighing exercise of the 
planning balance as to determining whether or not very special circumstances exist which 
would clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by inappropriateness or any other harm.  
 
This recent Court of Appeal judgment is an important reminder that under paragraph 88 of the 
NPPF, when considering any planning application concerning proposed development in the 
Green Belt, local planning authorities should continue to ensure that substantial weight is 
given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will only be demonstrated in 
circumstances where the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and 
any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 
 

Page 21



The proposal that is the subject of the application is considered inappropriate development 
within the Green Belt as defined by the NPPF. Substantial weight therefore needs to be given 
to the potential harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the 
potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is 
clearly outweighed by other considerations.  
 
Paragraph 55 of the NPPF provides the planning guidance in relation to the development of 
new ‘isolated dwellings’ in the countryside. It states: ‘To promote sustainable development in 
rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural 
communities. For example, where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in 
one village may support services in a village nearby. Local planning authorities should avoid 
new isolated homes in the countryside unless there are special circumstances such as: 
 

� the exceptional quality or innovative nature of the design of the dwelling.  

 
Such a design should: 
 

� be truly outstanding or innovative, helping to raise standards of design more generally 
in rural areas; 

� reflect the highest standards in architecture; 

� significantly enhance its immediate setting; and, 

� be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area.’,  

 
Section 7 of the NPPF also reinforces the commitment to good design as it is stated that, ‘the 
Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. Good design is 
seen as a key aspect of sustainable development, it is indivisible from good planning, and 
should contribute positively to making places better for people. When determining 
applications, great weight should be given to outstanding or innovative designs which help 
raise the standard of design generally in the area. 
 
Below, the proposal is assessed against the criteria set out in Paragraph 55 of the NPPF. 
 
Be truly outstanding or innovative, helping to raise standards of design more generally 
in rural areas 
 
Externally the dwelling has been integrated into the existing topography, whilst an earth 
embankment on the northern side ensures that the gentle slope of the site would be 
maintained.  By utilising the topography of the site and the natural slope of Blackstone Edge 
Old Road, it allows the dwelling to be tucked within the landscape.   To work within the 
landscape the form of the dwelling gently curves around a central courtyard and both the 
dwelling and the garage contain flat roofs.  The garage and dwelling and connected to one 
another by a stone retaining wall.  The use of the natural topography of the land, the shape 
and simple form of the building, the provision of a green roof and the use of traditional 
materials that reflect the local vernacular and stone boundary walls, will it is considered help 
the dwelling blend into the landscape to which is located. 

It is also proposed that the dwelling would be carbon neutral. The passive design of the 
dwelling, in terms of its positioning, layout, orientation, shape, use of materials, integration 
within the landscape and use of natural elements; and, its utilisation of various renewable 
technologies, will improve the liveability of the dwelling and significantly reduce its CO2 
emissions. As set out in the submitted Code for Sustainable Homes Pre-Assessment report 

Page 22



prepared by Element Sustainability, the sustainability aspects of the proposal will further be 
improved through a number of measures, which include: 
 

� Excellent levels of Fabric Energy Efficiency. 

� Provision of rainwater collection systems and composting facilities. 

� Construction materials to have low environmental impact and to be responsibly 
sourced where feasible. 

� Incorporation of sustainable drainage systems. 

� Insulating materials to use substances with a Global Warming Potential less than five. 

� All criteria of Lifetime Homes to be achieved. 

 
The proposal would utilise a ground source heat pump and photo voltaic cells, which will 
generate sufficient energy for the dwelling, as well creating surplus energy which would be fed 
back into the national grid. The ground source heat pump will be sympathetically located 
below the garage, and the photo voltaic cells will be sensitively located on the roof of the 
garage/utility building. 
 
The energy efficiency and renewable energy benefits of the proposal, and its achievement of 
Code for Sustainable Homes Level 6 – the highest possible level which remains rare for 
private residences to achieve – would help ensure that the proposed dwelling would potentially 
become an exemplar project in Rochdale.  
 
Proving innovation is difficult as it requires constant raising of the bar. Done once, by 
definition, it cannot be replicated.  In this particular case it is not considered that any single 
part of the scheme can be deemed to be ‘ground breaking’ and therefore it is not truly 
innovative.  However it is considered that the dwelling is outstanding due to its exceptional 
design quality, which is reflected through its integration within the natural topography of the 
land, its high sustainability credentials and its sensitive consideration of the character of the 
local area. 
 
‘reflect the highest standards in architecture’ 
 
Although architectural design is always subjective, the high architecture quality of the scheme 
is evidenced by the positive response it has received from Places Matter! Design Review 
Panel who commented that ‘there is potentially a strong concept if it can be successfully 
refined and seen through.  Then it could be an exceptional scheme’.  In response to these 
comments the scheme has been refined with the most noticeable changes being the reduction 
in the height of the rear bund and reducing the height of the entrance area, so that a simple 
single curved line is expressed in the landscape.  
 
The proposal is considered to be a very high quality scheme, taking into account of the context 
and setting of the development, and it would raise the standards of sustainability and design.  
The dwelling is partly recessed within the landscape and the use of local natural materials 
would ensure that it has a positive relationship with the landscape, and it the overall design 
would provide a noteworthy addition to the local landscape.   
 
‘significantly enhance its immediate setting’ 
 
The site comprises an open field and it topography slopes downwards from the south where it 
fronts Blackstone Edge Old Road. The site is framed by several groups of housing and it is 
obvious that it benefits from an attractive setting.  The design of dwelling successfully 

Page 23



integrates with the local topography which would result in only minimal harm to the openness 
of the Green Belt.  The reduction in the height of the bund against the rear elevation allows the 
future occupants with views over the countryside and the use of a green roof and natural stone 
allows the development to preserve the semi-rural character of this area.   
 
The garden area for the development would be provided within the inner courtyard and 
therefore not visible from the wider area.  The creation of an inner courtyard which also 
contains the driveway, would ensure that beyond the external boundaries of the dwelling, the 
landscape character of the area would not be harmed by the proliferation of domestic 
paraphernalia. By reason of it siting, design and appearance, it is concluded that the proposed 
dwelling would significantly enhance the immediate and wider semi-rural setting. 
 
‘be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the local area’ 
 
The key design element of the proposal is its simple form which proposes the notion of a 
natural stone wall within the landscape.  This idea links the development to the local area 
which is characterised by the use of stone walls to delineate field and property boundaries.  
The stone walls nestle into the landscape which prevents them appearing overly large 
although the property will incorporate some modern materials, such as zinc, it is consider that 
it is  in keeping and sensitive to its context.   
 
In summary, whilst architectural design is always subjective, this proposal is clearly of very 
high quality and this would be one of a small number of such properties nationwide, and one 
of a handful of such properties which achieve such a high standard of sustainability i.e. zero 
carbon/Code 6. In this regard, this house will be an exemplar project for Littleborough and the 
wider Borough of Rochdale. The design of the house makes a significantly effective use of 
natural resources including daylight, sunlight, and earth to improve the liveability of the house, 
whilst the use of renewable energy technologies i.e. ground source heat pumps and photo 
voltaic panels will help to power the house.   
 
It is considered that the proposal complies with paragraph 55 of the NPPF and that the 
identified in-principle harm caused by inappropriate development and any harm to the 
openness of the Green Belt would be outweighed by the benefits of the proposal in providing a 
dwelling of exceptional quality and design. 
 
It therefore falls to be considered whether ‘any other harm’ (i.e. non-Green Belt harm) would 
weigh in the planning balance against the development such that very special circumstances 
could not be demonstrated. Each of these non-Green Belt issues are discussed below. 
 
Impact on the landscape 
 
Policy NE/6 (Landscape Protection and Enhancement) states that development which 
adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or which would detract 
from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area will not be permitted. 
The application site is located within a semi-rural location and as mentioned previously, a key 
design element of the proposed house is its integration within the topography of the land. This 
design approach has been focused upon limiting the potential ‘presence’ of the house, and it 
has also ensured that the natural landscape is retained as far as is possible. Furthermore, the 
character of the area will be further respected through the use of traditional materials and 
appropriate soft/hard landscaping treatment.  
 
With regards to private outdoor space, the scheme comprises an inner courtyard which is 
large enough to meet the requirements of the future occupants of the house and to enable the 
integration of the scheme within the surrounding landscape.  The driveway extends into the 
courtyard and by the dwelling curving around the courtyard ensures all outdoor spaces as 
seen as integral to the design of the house, rather than being a necessary add on feature.     

Page 24



 
By reason of its design, siting and scale I consider the proposed dwelling would make a 
positive contribution to the landscape character of area and is therefore in accordance with 
policy NE/6.  
 
Ecology 
 
The site is dominated grassland with rows of trees forming the south and north-eats 
facing boundaries.  No part of the application site is designated for its ecological value 
and no designated sites are adjacent to the site. Although the Greater Manchester 
Ecological Unit (GMEU) have confirmed that they are not aware of any ecological 
constraints on this site, they have commented that any potential ecological constraints 
are most likely limited to be ground nesting birds such as lapwing, and the value of 
the existing grassland.   To ensure satisfactory mitigation, if necessary, of any 
ecological interest on the site conditions covering the following matters are included 
within the recommendation: -  
 

1. In order to protect any nesting birds protected under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) no earthworks shall take place 
between the 31st March and 31st August in any one year unless agreed 
in writing by the LPA following appropriate survey work. 

2. Unimproved grassland is a UK priority habitat and would require 
mitigation if lost and no development shall commence until an ecological 
assessment of the grassland to be lost is submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
It is therefore considered that the proposal is in accordance with the requirements of 
policies NE/3, NE/4 and NE/8 of the adopted UDP.  
 

Proposed Access Arrangements 
 
The proposed access into the site would be from Blackstone Edge Road opposite the 
terrace of properties known as Barnfield. The access would be in the form of a 
standard driveway junction and would extend down into a courtyard which could 
accommodate off-road parking for at least two vehicles.  In addition a double garage 
is proposed. .  
 
Policy A/8 of the adopted UDP seeks to ensure that new development does not have 
a detrimental impact on the existing highway network in respect of safety of existing 
highway network (particularly pedestrians and disabled people), the environmental 
impact on residential properties adjacent to the highway network, or substantially 
increase congestion. Policy A/9 seeks to ensure safe and convenient access for 
general traffic (cars, motorbikes and commercial vehicles) by making certain road 
junctions are suitable for the volumes and characteristics of traffic that use them. The 
Head of Highways and Engineering raises no objection to the proposal and it is 
considered that the proposed development would provide parking and access 
arrangements suitable for a development of this nature and scale.  Accordingly, there 
would no material adverse effects in transportation terms which would justify a refusal 
of planning permission. 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



Duty of the Local Planning Authority to pay special regard to proposals which 
affect a listed building or its setting 
 
In considering a development proposal affecting a listed building, the duty imposed by 
s66 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that a 
local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. 
 
National policy set out at Paragraph 131 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
states, “in determining planning applications, LPAs should take account of: the 
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets… the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness”. Paragraph 132 states that significance [of heritage assets] can be 
harmed or lost through development within its setting.  Similar guidance is also found 
at policy BE/15 (New Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building) of the 
adopted UDP which states that development proposals will not be permitted where 
through siting, scale design or materials would harm the setting of listed buildings.  
 
No. 5 Blackstone Edge Old Road is of a modest scale and design and its significance 
as a heritage asset lies in its historic origins as forming part of a group of houses 
located in a rural location above Littleborough.  Its character is expressed by its 
prominent location along the road and that it is the largest of the dwellings within this 
row.   
 
The proposed dwelling would lie some 25m from the application site and at the 
nearest point some 47m from the dwelling. Lying in between the proposed dwelling at 
the no. 5 would be nos 1, 3 and 51 Blackstone Edge Old Road.   
 
The proposed dwelling would be set back from Blackstone Edge Old Road and 
externally it has been integrated into the existing topography, whilst an earth 
embankment on the northern side ensures that the gentle slope of the site would be 
maintained. This design approach would limit the potential ‘presence’ of the house. 
The siting and design of the proposed dwelling would not cause any harm to the 
setting of No. 5 Blackstone Edge Old Road as the building would be set a significant 
distance away from it and the open views towards it along Blackstone Edge Road 
would be maintained. The scale of the development is also appropriate in the setting 
of no. 5 Blackstone Edge Old Road as it would be integrated within the existing 
topography, and it would not dominate or otherwise have a harmful impact on the 
street scene. Indeed development of exceptional design quality such as this proposal 
is likely to have a positive rather than negative impact on the setting of the listed 
building. There would be an impact, but it would not be harmful.  
 
It is concluded that by reason of size, scale, layout and design the proposed 
development would not harm to the setting of the adjacent listed building.  The 
proposal would therefore comply with the advice of the NPPF and with UDP Policy 
BE/15, which resist development that would harm the setting of a listed building.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



Privacy and amenity of Neighbours. 

 

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the 
amenity of future residents. 
 
Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural 
light is made both within and between buildings.  
 
In addition, the space standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” state that a minimum separation 
distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing dwellings 
and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations.  

 

At the closest points, the following separation distances would exist between the proposed 
dwelling and the neighbouring dwellings:  

 

� The rear elevation of no. 1 Barnfield would lie some 34m from the south facing end corner 
of the proposed dwelling.   

� The rear elevation of the dwelling known as Windy Ridge would lie some 30m from the 
west facing corner of the proposed dwelling. 

� The rear elevation of Bronte Cottage would lie some 26m from the proposed double 
garage. 

� The gable elevation of the dwelling known as Tall Trees would lie some 57m from the 
proposed dwelling.  

 

The proposed dwelling would adhere with the Councils adopted residential spacing standards.   
 
No. 51 Blackstone Edge Old would be set some 11m higher than the south east facing 
parapet wall of the proposed dwelling and some 13.5m higher than its internal courtyard.  Due 
to these significant changes in levels and that the proposed dwelling would be partially built 
within the hillside, the view from no. 51 Blackstone Edge Old Road, would be over the roof of 
the proposed dwelling. It is considered that by reason of its siting and design the proposed 
dwelling would maintain adequate levels of privacy and amenity for the occupiers of no. 51 
Blackstone Edge Old Road. Concerns have been raised about the impact on the view from 
nearby properties but views over private land cannot be protected through the planning 
system and as such a change in a view is not a reason to refuse planning permission. 
 
In summary the design and the siting of the proposed dwelling would ensure that the 
development maintains satisfactorily levels of privacy and amenity with adjacent dwellings.  
Therefore the development is in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies H/3 and 
BE/2, and the objectives of the SPG Note “Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development”. 

 

Recreational Open Space: 
 
UDP policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate provision for 
recreational open space. In the case of proposals comprising less than 100 bedrooms, a 
commuted sum payment towards the provision/improvement of off-site recreational open 
space is required. Off-site contributions to recreational open space (comprising elements of 
both local open space and outdoor sports provision) are calculated on the basis of the number 
of bedrooms being created by a development and the resulting demand for recreational open 
space arising from the occupation of the new houses. 

Page 27



 
In this case, the proposal involves a new build house which would contain 4 bedrooms.  
Although the site lies in a semi-rural location it does lie within walking distance (1.5 kilometres) 
of areas of Local Open Space (Hare Hill Park and land at Boundary Street) which have 
identified qualitative/quantitative deficiency. Therefore, a contribution to improve Local Open 
Space is sought in this case. Also as identified in the SPD, contributions to Outdoor Sports 
Provision can be spent more strategically within the same Township or elsewhere throughout 
the borough as future occupiers are likely to travel further afield to access such facilities. The 
proposed residential development involves a total of four bedrooms and requires a 
contribution of £3,625.44 (including a 4% administration charge) towards Local Open Space 
and Outdoor Sports Provision. 
 
The applicant is required to enter into a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act in order to secure the relevant contribution to recreational open space in 
accordance with the requirements of UDP policy H/6 and the Supplementary Planning 
Document ‘Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing’. 
 
Procedural matters 

Given that the proposed development represents 'inappropriate development' it is necessary 
to consider whether it needs to be referred to the Secretary of State for a final decision. The 
Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 requires inappropriate 
development on land allocated as Green Belt in the Development Plan Document which 
comprises either: 
 
1. the provision of over 1000m² of floorspace or development; or 
2. any other development, which by reason of its scale or nature or location, would have a 
significant impact on the openness of the Green Belt. 
 
The floorspace to be created by the proposed development is less than the 1,000m² threshold 
and therefore consideration must be given to the whether the scale, nature, or location of the 
development will have a significant impact upon the openness of the green belt. Given that the 
majority of the proposed dwelling will be sited within the hillside, and since it is located 
adjacent to the urbanised part of Littleborough rather than an isolated position, it is considered 
that the impact upon the openness of the green belt would not be significant. Therefore, it is 
not considered necessary to refer the application to the Secretary of State. 
 

Balancing and overall conclusions. 

A series of very special circumstances exist which outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness. These very special circumstances include: 
 
i. The Design Quality of the House 
 
The proposed house is of an exceptional design quality and it accords with criteria set out in 
paragraph 55 of the NPPF. In addition the scheme has been reviewed by Places Matter! who 
considered that the scheme had the potential to be ‘exceptional’ with some suggested 
refinements which have been incorporated into the scheme.  
 
ii. The Environmental Benefits of the Scheme 
 
National planning policy guidance (paragraph 91 of NPPF) makes it clear that whilst elements 
of many renewable energy projects will comprise inappropriate development, their 
environmental benefits can be considered to be a very special circumstance. The fact that this 
scheme proposes a series of renewable energy technologies, including ground source heat 
pumps and photo voltaics, which will enable the proposed house to achieve the exceptional 

Page 28



standard of Code 6, should be given substantial weight in the determination of the application 
as part of the projects design. 
 
The merits of the proposal set against the requirements of the NPPF and the adopted UDP 
make this particular case an exceptional development that warrants support. The in principle 
harm to the Green Belt from development which is deemed to be ‘inappropriate’ and the harm 
to the openness of the Green Belt from the proposals are outweighed by the compliance of the 
scheme with Paragraph 55 of the NPPF, which comprise the very special circumstances which 
are necessarily demonstrated in this case for the development to proceed. No other material 
harm outside the Green Belt has been identified to landscape, ecology, residential amenity, 
the setting of heritage assets or transportation which would weigh against the development. 
The application is therefore recommended for approval.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Committee resolve: 
 
That Members are minded to GRANT planning permission subject to: 
 
1. The completion of a Section 106 planning obligation in order to secure: 

 
a) The provision and maintenance of recreational open space in  

  accordance with the Council’s open space policies. 
 

2. That the Council enters into an agreement under the provisions of Section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and other appropriate legislation with regard to 
the matters set out above; 

 
3. The Head of Planning being authorised to issue the decision notice on completion of 

the Section 106 Agreement; 
 
and subject to the following conditions and reasons:- 
 
 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 

with the date of this permission.  
   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 The permission relates to the following plans:-  
   
 01 Location Plan   
 02 Site Plan as Existing   
 03 Rev B – Site Plan as Proposed  
 04 Rev A – Plans as Proposed   
 05 Rev A  - Site Plan as Proposed   
 06 Rev A – Elevations and Sections as Proposed  
 07 Rev A – Elevations and Sections as Proposed  
 08 Rev A – Site Layout   
 09 Roof Plan as Proposed  
 10 Rev A– Site Location Plan    
   
 And the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 

hereby approved.   

Page 29



 Reason.  For the avoidance of any doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with policies of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan. 

 
 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no development shall 

take place until samples or full details of materials to be used externally on the 
building(s) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of the materials. Only 
the materials so approved shall be used, in accordance with any terms of such 
approval.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 

in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan. 
 
 4 The dwelling shall achieve a minimum of Code Level 6 in accordance with the 

requirements of the Code for Sustainable Homes: Technical Guide (or such measure 
of sustainability for house design that replaces that scheme).  The dwelling hereby 
approved shall not be occupied until a Final Code Certificate has been issued for it 
certifying that Code Level 6 has been achieved, and details of the energy supply 
technology installed within the development have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and makes efficient use of 

energy, water and materials in accordance with Policy EM/13 of the Council's Unitary 
Development Plan and the Council's: Energy and New Development Supplementary 
Planning Document as well as the NPPF. 

 
 5 Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, D, E, F,G or H 

of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as 
amended) (or any equivalent Order following the revocation and re-enactment thereof), 
no development shall take place to the dwelling under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, 
B, C, D, E, F,G or H of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (as amended) unless a further planning permission in 
respect thereof has been granted on application to the Local Planning Authority .  

   
 Reason - The Local Planning Authority considers it expedient, having regard to the 

design and appearance of the development, to regulate any future 
alterations/extensions, in accordance with policies BE/2, H/3 and D/4 of the Council’s 
Unitary Development Plan as well as the NPPF. 

 
 6 No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape works 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local  
 Planning Authority.The hard landscape details shall include proposed finished levels or 

contours; means of enclosure; hard surfacing materials and furniture, where relevant. 
The soft landscaping works shall include planting plans; schedules of plants and trees, 
noting species, plant/tree sizes and proposed numbers/densities and the 
implementation programme. The approved schemes shall be carried out in full before 
the first occupation of the dwelling. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being severely 
damaged or becoming seriously diseased within three years of planting, shall be 
replaced by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally requires to be 
planted. The areas which are landscaped shall be retained as landscaped areas 
thereafter.  

   
 Reason - To ensure that the development site is landscaped to an acceptable standard 

in the interests of enhancing the visual amenity and character of the site, in 
accordance with policies BE/2, BE/8 and H/3 of the Council’s Unitary Development 
Plan as well as  the NPPF. 

Page 30



 
 7 Vegetation clearance works, site preparation, vehicle movements associated with the 

construction phase of the development, development work or other works that may 
affect nesting birds shall not take place between the months of March and August 
inclusive, unless:-  

   
 a) the absence of nesting birds on the site has been confirmed by a survey, the results 

of which have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, or,   

 b) if the sruvey shows nesting birds are to be found on the site, suitable mitigation 
measures have been put in place, a scheme for which has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details.   

   
 Reason. In order to protect birds from disruption during their nesting period and in 

accordance with policy NE/4 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan. 
 
 8 No development shall take place until an ecological assessment of the grassland to be 

lost has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. If 
any protected species is found to either reside or forage within the grassland to be lost, 
a mitigation scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and the approved mitigation measures thereafter fully implemented. 

   
 Reason: To safeguard any protected species which may either live or forage within the 

site in accordance with Policy NE/4 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan. 
 
 9 No development shall take place until full details of the design and siting of the septic 

tank has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The approved septic tank shall be installed and operational, prior to the first occupation 
of the dwelling hereby approved, and retained at all times thereafter.  

    
 Reason: To ensure the satisfactory drainage of foul sewage and in the interest of 

visual amenity in accordance with Policy EM/7 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the NPPF.  

 
10 No development shall take place until details of the solar panels, including method of 

support, design and projection has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The approved solar panels shall be installed, prior to the first 
occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, and retained thereafter.   

     
 Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and makes efficient use of 

energy in accordance with Policy EM/13 of the Council's Unitary Development Plan 
and the Council's: Energy and New Development Supplementary Planning Document 
as well as the NPPF. 

 
11 No development hereby approved shall take place until details of the reveals, 

appearance, materials, profile, and method of opening of all new windows and doors 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and 
retained as such thereafter.  

   
 Reason - In the interests of protecting both the character and appearance of the 

building and the area within which the site is located, in accordance with policies BE/2, 
H/3 and D/4 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan as well as the NPPF. 

 

Page 31



12 The development hereby permitted shall not take place until a scheme to regulate 
surface water run-off has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the first 
occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, and it shall be maintained thereafter,   

   
 Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding and ensure future maintenance of 

the surface water drainage system in order to comply with Unitary Development Plan 
EM/7 and the NPPF. 

 
13 No development shall take place until details of the means of foul water disposal have 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
details, as approved, shall be implemented in full before the development hereby 
permitted is first brought into use.   

   
 Reason.  To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of the 

water environment in accordance with Policies EM/7 and EM/8 of the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan and the NPPF. 

 
14 No development shall take place until details of finished site and floor levels relative to 

an off-site datum have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

   
 Reason: In the interests of amenity and in order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in 

order to comply with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies H/3 and 
BE/2. 

 
15 No development hereby approved shall take place until details of all rainwater goods 

including method of support, design and surface finish has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved scheme and retained as such thereafter.  

   
 Reason - In the interests of protecting both the character and appearance of the 

building and the area within which the site is located, in accordance with policies BE/2, 
H/3 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan as well as the NPPF. 

 
 
 
 
Report Author Paul Ambrose 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 32


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	3 Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013
	4 Submitted planning application

